FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 24 1995

CLERK, SUPPLY COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 86,061 District Court of Appeal First District, No. 94-3040

SALLY ROE, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LAURA RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 613959
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL - PL-01
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-9935

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents Sally and Ann Roe sued the Department of Education (DOE), Leon County School Board and Superintendent Richard Merrick, school principals Nancy E. Russell and Sam Alderman, and former teacher Billy R. Campbell, alleging that Campbell was a teacher at Ruediger Elementary School who sexually molested Sally Roe during 1988-89 and 1989-90, when she was in fourth and fifth grades, causing permanent physical and psychological injuries.

The Amended Complaint alleged as follows as to DOE:

- 24. At all material times, the DEPARTMENT was the agency of the state of Florida that issued and renewed certificates of school teachers. The DEPARTMENT was required to determine whether an applicant for issuance or renewal of a teacher's certificate was of good moral character.
- The DEPARTMENT and the COUNTY jointly in determining the qualifications and fitness of applicants for teaching moral DEPARTMENT undertook positions. The investigate the moral fitness of applicants for issuance or renewal of licenses, and when hiring an applicant for a considering teaching position the COUNTY relied in part upon the most recent determination of moral fitness by the DEPARTMENT.
- The COUNTY relied in part upon the DEPARTMENT to check the criminal record of investigate applicants, to reports misconduct, determine whether and to applicants were morally fit to serve as teachers. The DEPARTMENT undertook perform these tasks, knowing that school boards, including the LEON COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD, would rely in part upon the DEPARTMENT in these respects.
- 27. The DEPARTMENT learned, at least by 1985, of misconduct by defendant CAMPBELL. The DEPARTMENT determined that CAMPBELL should not be allowed to teach and that his

teaching certificate should not be renewed at least pending further investigation.

Nonetheless, 1986 DEPARTMENT in the renewed CAMPBELL's teaching negligently The DEPARTMENT did SO certificate. violation of its own determination that this occur absent further should not investigation. The DEPARTMENT negligently failed properly to investigate, learn or that consider the fact Campbell had record, had engaged in acts of criminal sexual abuse of minor children during prior employment, and was otherwise morally unfit to hold a teaching certificate or to be employed at any school.

29. In 1986, the COUNTY, acting cooperatively with the DEPARTMENT, hired CAMPBELL based in part on the negligent renewal of CAMPBELL's teaching certificate earlier that same year by the DEPARTMENT. The COUNTY continued CAMPBELL's employment through the occurrences of sexual abuse at issue in this case based in part upon the negligence of the DEPARTMENT in renewing CAMPBELL's certificate.

DOE moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint on grounds that Roes' claims were barred by sovereign immunity because DOE did not owe a common-law or statutory duty of care to the plaintiffs as to the acts alleged to have been negligently performed. The trial court denied the motion.

DOE filed a petition for writ of common-law certiorari in the District Court of Appeal. The district court treated DOE's petition as an interlocutory appeal on authority of <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1995), stating that "[w]e consider this holding applicable to any denial of a claim of absolute or qualified immunity, and not simply those raised in the context of a motion for summary judgment, so long as the issue is a matter of law, as in the case at bar." Department of Education v. Roe,

et al., 20 Fla.L.Weekly D686b, D687 (Fla. 1st DCA March 14,
1995). (Ex. A)

The district court concluded that the Roes' had failed to allege any duty of care owed to them by DOE with respect to the alleged negligently performed licensing and investigatory acts, and reversed the trial court's order, directing it to dismiss the Amended Complaint with prejudice.

On rehearing, the district court withdrew its earlier decision and in a brief substituted decision held that the order denying DOE's immunity claim was not subject to interlocutory review because "[w]e are now of the view that we should not construe <u>Tucker</u> as deciding any issue beyond that which was specifically asked in the certified question in that case." <u>Department of Education v. Roe, et al.</u>, 20 Fla.L.Weekly D1167, D1167-78 (Fla. 1st DCA May 12, 1995). (Ex. B)

DOE filed motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc and for certification. The trial court on June 16, 1995 denied the motions.

DOE on July 14, 1995 timely filed a Notice to Invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction on grounds that the district court's May 12, 1995 decision expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decision in Tucker v. Resha.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the district court in <u>Department of Education v. Roe, et al.</u>, on <u>rehearing</u>, declining to permit interlocutory review of the order rejecting DOE's sovereign immunity claim, where the order turns on an issue of law, constitutes an erroneous reading of this court's decision in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>. The question of whether an order rejecting a sovereign immunity claim is subject to interlocutory review is of exceptional importance.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IN DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION v. ROE, ET AL., 20 Fla.L.Weekly D1167 (Fla. 1st DCA May 14, 1995) EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN TUCKER v. RESHA, 648 So. 2d. 1187 (Fla. 1994) ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

In <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, this court reviewed a certified question asking whether a qualified immunity claim asserted in a federal civil rights action is entitled to interlocutory review. The court answered the question in the affirmative on the following rationale:

immunity doctrine, Under the qualified performing "government officials generally discretionary functions shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate established statutory clearly constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known. [cite omitted] "The central purpose of affording public official qualified immunity from suit is to protect them "from undue interference with their duties and from potentially disabling threats of liability." [cites omitted]

Consistent with this purpose, the qualified public officials immunity of "immunity from suit rather than a mere defense liability." [cite omitted? entitlement "is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." [cite Furthermore, an order denying omitted] effectively immunity "is qualified unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment" [cite omitted] as the public official cannot be "re-immunized" if erroneously required to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation.

We also note that the defendant official is not the only party who suffers "consequences" from erroneously lost immunity. As the Supreme Court explained in Harlow, society as a whole also pays the "social costs" of "the expenses of litigation, the diversion of

official energy from pressing public issues, and the deterrence of able citizens acceptance of public office. Finally, there is the danger that fear of being sued will the ardor of all but the most 'dampen resolute, or the most irresponsible [public officials), in the unflinching discharge of their duties.'" [cite omitted] Thus, if orders denying summary judgment based upon claims of qualified immunity are not subject to interlocutory review, the qualified immunity of public officials is illusory and the very policy that animates the decision to afford such immunity is thwarted.

Id., 648 So.2d at 1189-90.

The district court in <u>Department of Education v. Roe, et al.</u>, 20 Fla.L.Weekly D686b (Fla. 1st DCA March 14, 1995), held that the order rejecting DOE's immunity claim was entitled to interlocutory review on authority of this court's decision in <u>Tucker</u>. The district court opined that <u>Tucker</u> was "applicable to any denial of a claim of absolute or qualified immunity, and not simply those raised in the context of a motion for summary judgment, so long as the issue is a matter of law, as in the case at bar. <u>Id.</u>, 20 Fla.L.Weekly at D687.

On rehearing, the district court receded from its earlier decision as to DOE's entitlement to interlocuroty review, stating that "[w]e should not construe <u>Tucker</u> as deciding any issue beyond that which was specifically asked in the certified question in that case." <u>Department of Education v. Roe, et al.</u>, 20 Fla.L.Weekly at D1167-68.

Although the certified question in <u>Tucker</u> involved the right to interlocutory review of an order denying a claim of qualified immunity raised in a motion for summary judgment, this court expressly based its holding on a recognition that the government

immunity in that case was intended to shield public officials from suit rather than act as a mere defense to liability, and that a public official cannot be reimmunized if erroneously required to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation.

Sovereign immunity is indistinguishable from qualified immunity insofar as it is intended to shield the government defendant from the costs and burdens of litigation. The social costs attendant to defending government agencies and officials in state tort claims are indistinguishable from those involved in defending federal civil rights claims.

This jurisdiction to review decisions of court's the district courts under Rule 9.030(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure and Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const., is invoked by (1) the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this court or another district court, or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior case. Mancini v. State, 312 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1975). Conflict jurisdiction may be predicated upon an erroneous reading of precedent. See Arab Termite and Pest Control v. Jenkins, 409 So.2d 1039,1041 (Fla. 1982). The discretionary power of this court is concerned with decisions as precedent rather than adjudications of rights of particular litigants. Seaboard Air Line R.R. Co. v. Branham, 104 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1958).

The district court's refusal in this case to recognize <u>Tucker</u> as authorizing interlocutory review of the order rejecting DOE's immunity claim constitutes an erroneous reading of controlling precedent. Although <u>Tucker</u> involved a qualified immunity claim asserted by motion for summary judgment and this case involves a sovereign immunity claim asserted by motion to dismiss, these factual distinctions have no significance to the issue before the court. The operative facts in <u>Tucker</u> and this case are the same. Both cases involve claims of government immunity asserted prior to trial. Both involve orders which rejected immunity and turned exclusively on issues of law.

Tucker confined the right to interlocutory review of orders rejecting qualified immunity claims to those which turn on an issue of law. The issue of law in <u>Tucker</u> was whether the official violated clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known. The issue of law in this case is whether DOE owed a common-law or statutory duty of care to Roes as to the acts the agency was alleged to have negligently performed.

The district court on rehearing did not expressly recede from that portion of its earlier decision holding that DOE was immune from tort liability for Roes' claims. That Roes' claims against DOE have been held to be barred even though DOE cannot obtain review of its immunity claim prior to trial should weigh in favor of this court exercising its discretionary jurisdiction.

The question of whether state agencies and officials may immediately appeal an order rejecting a sovereign immunity claim, where the order turns on an issue of law, is of exceptional importance. The answer to this question will affect many cases. An affirmative answer will preclude the useless and wasteful

expenditure of state resources in those cases in which the trial court has erroneously rejected an immunity claim.

For the above reasons, DOE requests this court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the district court.

CONCLUSION

Because the district court's decision in <u>Department of Education v. Roe, et al.</u>, on rehearing, expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decision in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u> on the question of whether an order rejecting a claim of government immunity is subject to interlocutory review, where the order turns on an issue of law, DOE requests this court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the district court.