IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA,

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,

Petitioner,

۷.

SALLY ROE, et al.,

Respondents.

Case No. 86,061

By_

RESPONDENT SALLY ROE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

DOUGLASS, POWELL & RUDOLPH Post Office Box 1674 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1674 Telephone: (904) 224-6191 Telecopier: (904) 224-3644 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT ROE

Douglass, Powell & Rudolph, P. A., Attorneys at Law, Tallahassee, Florida

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 25 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents, SALLY and ANN ROE, sued Billy R. Campbell, alleging that while he was a teacher at Ruediger Elementary School he sexually molested SALLY ROE when she was his student in the fourth and fifth grades. In the initial Complaint, Respondents also sued the Leon County School Board for negligently hiring, retaining and supervising Billy Campbell and for failing to warn Respondents of the dangerous condition the School Board had created by hiring a known child molester. Finally, Respondents sued the Leon County School Board; Campbell's principal, Sam Alderman; the Superintendent of Leon County Schools and other unknown employees of the Leon County School Board alleging certain civil rights violations.

By Amended Complaint, Respondents added school principal Nancy Russell as an additional defendant in the civil rights count. The Amended Complaint also added the Department of Education (DOE) as a defendant, alleging that the School Board relied on the DOE to investigate the criminal history and moral fitness of teaching applicants, that the DOE undertook to perform these tasks knowing that the School Board would rely on the DOE for this investigation, and that the DOE acted jointly with the School Board in determining the qualifications and moral fitness of applicants for teaching positions.

Specifically, the Amended Complaint alleged as follows:

24. At all material times, the DEPARTMENT was the agency of the State of Florida that issued and renewed certificates of school teachers. The DEPARTMENT was required to determine whether an applicant for issuance or renewal of a teacher's certificate was of good moral character.

- 1 -

25. The DEPARTMENT and the COUNTY acted jointly in determining the qualifications and moral fitness of applicants for teaching positions. The DEPARTMENT undertook to investigate the moral fitness of applicants for issuance or renewal of licenses, and when considering hiring an applicant for a teaching position the COUNTY relied in part upon the most recent determination of moral fitness by the DEPARTMENT.

26. The COUNTY relied in part upon the DEPARTMENT to check the criminal record of applicants, to investigate reports of misconduct, and to determine whether applicants were morally fit to serve as teachers. The DEPARTMENT undertook to perform these tasks knowing that county school boards, including the LEON COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD, would rely in part upon the DEPARTMENT in these respects.

27. The DEPARTMENT learned, at least by 1985, of misconduct by defendant CAMPBELL. The DEPARTMENT determined that CAMPBELL should not be allowed to teach and that his teaching certificate should not be renewed at least pending further investigation.

28. Nonetheless, in 1986 the DEPARTMENT negligently renewed CAMPBELL'S teaching certificate. The DEPARTMENT did so in violation of its own determination that this should not occur absent further investigation. The DEPARTMENT negligently failed properly to investigate, learn or consider the fact that CAMPBELL had a criminal record, had engaged in acts of sexual abuse of minor children during prior employment, and was otherwise morally unfit to hold a teaching certificate or to be employed at any school.

29. In 1986, the COUNTY, acting cooperatively with the DEPARTMENT, hired CAMPBELL based in part on the negligent renewal of CAMPBELL'S teaching certificate earlier that same year by the DEPARTMENT. The COUNTY continued CAMPBELL'S employment through the occurrences of sexual abuse at issue in this case based in part upon the negligence of the DEPARTMENT in renewing CAMPBELL'S certificate.

DOE moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint arguing that it failed to show the

violation of any statutory or common law duty of care to Plaintiffs which had been

breached by DOE so that Respondents' claims were barred by the doctrine of sovereign

immunity. The trial court denied this motion.

- 2 -

DOE then filed a Petition for Writ of Common Law Certiorari in the District Court of Appeal. Initially, the District Court treated this Petition as an interlocutory appeal on the authority of <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1995), and reversed, directing the trial court to dismiss the Amended Complaint with prejudice. (See Exhibit A.)

However, on rehearing, the District Court withdrew its earlier decision, and in a substituted opinion held that the trial court's denial of DOE's Motion to Dismiss was not subject to interlocutory review explaining that "[w]e are now of the view that we should not construe <u>Tucker</u> as deciding any issue beyond that which was specifically asked in the certified question in that case." <u>Department of Education v. Roe, et al.</u>, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). (Exhibit B.)

DOE filed motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc and for certification which the District Court denied.

DOE then filed a Notice to Invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, alleging that the substituted opinion of the District Court of Appeal dated May 12, 1995, expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>.

Douglass, Powell & Rudolph, P. A., Attorneys at Law, Tallahassee, Florida

- 3 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District Court in <u>Department of Education v. Roe</u>, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), does not expressly and directly conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), on the same question of law.

<u>Tucker</u> involves the standard of review for the denial of a motion for summary judgment on behalf of a public official asserting qualified immunity as a defense to a civil rights claim. The present case involves an attempt to obtain interlocutory review of the denial of a motion to dismiss on behalf of a public official asserting sovereign immunity arising from the factual issue of duty as a defense to a negligence claim.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT IN <u>DEPARTMENT OF</u> <u>EDUCATION v. ROE</u>, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>TUCKER v. RESHA</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

This Court has jurisdiction to review the decision of the First District Court only if that Court's opinion contains "(1) the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this court or another district, or, (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior case." <u>Mancini v. State</u>, 312 So.2d 732, 733 (Fla. 1975).

The "rule" announced in <u>Department of Education v. Roe</u> does not conflict with the rule announced by this Court in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u> or with any rule previously announced by another District; to the contrary, the rule announced in this case by the District Court is consistent with and required by the rule previously announced by this Court in other cases. Nor did the District Court misapply any rule of law so as to achieve a result different than that reached by this Court or another District when considering the same facts.

In <u>Tucker v. Resha</u> this Court answered the following certified question:

IS A PUBLIC OFFICIAL ASSERTING <u>QUALIFIED IMMUNITY</u> AS A DEFENSE TO A <u>FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS CLAIM</u> ENTITLED IN THE FLORIDA COURTS TO THE SAME STANDARD OF REVIEW OF DENIAL OF HER <u>MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT</u> AS IS AVAILABLE IN THE FEDERAL COURTS? Tucker v. Resha, supra, at p. 1187. (Emphasis added.)

This Court responded to that question as follows: Thus, we answer the certified question in the affirmative and hold that an order denying <u>summary judgment</u> based upon a claim of <u>qualified</u>

immunity is subject to interlocutory review to the extent that the order turns on an issue of law. Id. at 1190. (Emphasis added.)

The present case involves a negligence claim, not a federal civil rights action. The present case involves the denial of a motion to dismiss, not the denial of a motion for summary judgment.

The present case involves the defense of sovereign immunity based on a claim of the absence of duty, not the defense of qualified immunity granted to officials of state government acting in their discretionary capacities.

These are not differences without distinction. For instance, the defense of qualified immunity in a civil rights action is granted only to public officials who act within their discretionary authority. The "sovereign immunity" raised as a defense in the present case depends on the factual determination of the existence of a <u>duty</u>. The defense of absence of duty is available to any defendant in a negligence case, not just the sovereign.

Moreover, a motion for summary judgment proceeds on undisputed facts which have been fully developed, while a motion to dismiss addresses only <u>allegations</u> of fact which ordinarily are subject to amendment.

The rule of law followed in the present case is that "denial of a motion to dismiss does not ordinarily qualify for certiorari review." <u>Department of Education v. Roe</u>, supra, at page 508. That is the rule of law announced by this Court in <u>Martin-Johnson, Inc. v.</u> <u>Savage</u>, 509 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1987); and <u>Fieselman v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 768 (Fla. 1990). That rule of law in no way conflicts with the rule announced by this Court in <u>Tucker v.</u> <u>Resha</u>.

- 6 -

Nor does this rule conflict with any rule <u>previously</u> announced by another District Court. Although the case cited by respondent in its Notice of Supplemental Authority, <u>Department of Transportation v. Wallis</u>, No. 95-492 (Fla. 5th DCA Aug. 11, 1995), appears to conflict with the decision in the present case, the opinion of the Fifth District is subsequent, not previous to the opinion in the present case.

This Court's jurisdiction requires that the opinion in the present case conflict with a "previously" announced rule of another District, not a "subsequently" announced rule. (See <u>Mancini v. State</u>, supra.) Accordingly, although this Court may have jurisdiction to consider certiorari review of <u>Department of Transportation v. Wallis</u>, there is no jurisdiction to review the District Court's opinion in the present case.

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

The decision of the First District Court in <u>Department of Education v. Roe</u>, does not conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u> on the same issue of law, or in any other respect. Accordingly, this Court must decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the First District Court.

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished to Gordon D. Cherr, P. O. Drawer 229, Tallahassee, FL 32302; C. Graham Carothers, P. O. Box 391, Tallahassee, FL 32302; Laura Rush, Office of the Attorney General, The Capitol, Tallahassee, FL 32399; Jeannette Andrews, P. O. Box 1739, Tallahassee, FL 32302; John Cooper, P. O. Box 14447, Tallahassee, FL 32317; and Billy R. Campbell, D.C. 578085, Liberty Correctional Institution, P. O. Box 999, Bristol, FL 32321-0999, and Bob Hinkle, P. O. Box 11307, Tallahassee, FL 32302, by mail this 25th day of August, 1995.

DOUGLASS, POWELL & RUDOLPH Post Office Box 1674 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1674 Telephone: (904) 224-6191 Telecopier: (904) 224-3644 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

THOMAS L. POWELL